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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  
  
  Plaintiff, 
  
  v. 
  
HERITAGE SENIOR LIVING, LLC, 
WESTRUM  HANOVER, LP, and 
GAHC3 BETHLEHEM PA ILF, LLC, 
  
  Defendants. 

CIVIL ACTION NO. 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

_____________________________________________

COMPLAINT  

The United States of America alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1.  The United States brings this action to enforce the Fair Housing Act, as amended, 42 

U.S.C. §§ 3601 et seq. (“FHA”). As set forth below, the United States alleges that Defendants 

discriminated against residents and prospective residents with disabilities  at Traditions of  

Hanover (“Traditions”), a multifamily apartment complex for seniors in Bethlehem, 

Pennsylvania. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE  

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345 and 42 

U.S.C. § 3614(a). 

3. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c) because the events 

or omissions giving rise to the claims alleged in this action occurred in this District; Defendants 

either currently own or operate, or formerly owned or operated, Traditions of Hanover, a 
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business that is located in this District; Defendant Heritage Senior Living, LLC (“Heritage”) is a 

Pennsylvania entity licensed to do business in this District; and Defendants Westrum Hanover, 

LP (“Westrum”) and GAHC3 Bethlehem PA ILF, LLC (“GAHC3”) are Delaware entities 

licensed to do business in this District and have designated agents for service of process in this 

District. 

TRADITIONS OF HANOVER 

4. Traditions is a multifamily apartment building for seniors age 55 and older located at 

5300 Northgate Drive in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania.  Traditions contains 115 apartment units 

ranging in size from studio to two bedroom.   

5. The apartment units are “dwellings” within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 3602(b). 

6. Traditions offers month-to-month lease agreements and services and amenities 

targeted towards seniors, including two meals a day served in the dining room, on-site and off-

site events, and transportation to sponsored off-site events, shopping, and doctor’s appointments.  

It also provides weekly house cleaning and linen changes.    

7.  Traditions is not an assisted living facility, nursing home, or other kind of health care 

facility licensed by the state to provide medical care.  

DEFENDANTS  

8. Defendant Westrum is a Delaware limited partnership licensed to do business in 

Pennsylvania, whose principal place of business is located at 765 Skippack Pike, Suite 300 in 

Blue Bell, Pennsylvania.  Westrum has been registered to do business in Pennsylvania and 
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Delaware since 2004.  Westrum was the owner of Traditions from January 2004 through June 

2015. 

9. Defendant GAHC3 is a Delaware limited liability company licensed to do business in 

Pennsylvania, whose principal place of business is located at 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400 in 

Wilmington, Delaware.  GAHC3 has been registered to do business in Pennsylvania and 

Delaware since 2015. GAHC3 is the current owner of Traditions. 

10.  At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendants Westrum or GAHC3 have leased 

apartment units to tenants at Traditions.   

11. Defendant Heritage is a Pennsylvania limited liability company whose principal place 

of business is located at 765 Skippack Pike, Suite 300 in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania.  At all times 

relevant to this complaint, Heritage has managed Traditions on behalf of Westrum or GAHC3.  

In addition, Heritage has managed other multifamily senior housing units on behalf of Westrum 

and other owners. 

12. This complaint refers collectively to Westrum, GAHC3, and Heritage as the 

“Defendants.” 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Eligibility and Occupancy Policies at Traditions Discriminate Against Current and 
Prospective Tenants 

13. Since at least 2005 through the present, the Defendants have created and/or 

implemented discriminatory policies and practices against residents and prospective residents 

with disabilities at Traditions. These policies and practices are set forth in, inter alia, the 

Resident Agreement, the Resident Handbook, the Case Management Policy, the Motorized 

Chairs and Wheelchairs Policy, and other policies and practices as set forth below. 
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14. Since at least 2013, Defendants Westrum or GAHC3 as owners of Traditions have 

required residents to sign a month-to-month lease entitled “Resident Agreement” that includes 

discriminatory policies and practices based on disability.  The current version requires residents 

to be able to live independently and defines independent living as “includ[ing], but not [being] 

limited to”: 

residing in your apartment safely and securely, being able to shop, managing your 
money and financial arrangements, being able to get to and from the dining room 
for meals without supervision or assistance from staff, as well as taking care of 
your personal hygiene and medications.  

15. The Resident Agreement also states that a prospective tenant “may be subject to an 

initial physical assessment prior to entry into Traditions of Hanover to ensure independent living 

is an appropriate environment for Tenant.”  Additionally, the Resident Agreement can be 

terminated if “the Executive Director concludes that after conducting an assessment on the 

Tenant” that the tenant has one or more of the following characteristics, including: is bedridden 

and requires 24-hour care, has cognitive decline such that the tenant cannot make simple 

decisions regarding bathing, dressing, and eating, or is medically unstable.  

16. From at least 2005 to the present, the Defendants have created, updated, and 

implemented a Resident Handbook that includes discriminatory policies and practices based on 

disability. The Resident Handbook is distributed to Traditions’ residents and contains policies 

and procedures for residents. To be eligible to live at Traditions, the Resident Handbook 

requires that all prospective and current residents be capable of “independent living” and defines 

independent living as including, “residing in your apartment safely and securely,” the ability to 

shop and manage finances, the ability to get to and from the dining room independently, and the 

ability to handle personal hygiene and medications independently. 
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17. The Resident Handbooks dated from 2005 through at least 2007 included in the 

definition of independent living that “[i]f, however, it becomes obvious to staff that you require 

more assistance than is feasible in an apartment setting we will recommend to you and your 

family that you seek living accommodations that can offer you the services you need.”  

18. The Resident Handbooks dated from 2005 through at least 2007 required residents 

who used wheelchairs or other mobility aids to transfer to dining room chairs during meals, with 

servers removing the mobility device and returning it after the meal.  Based on internal emails, 

staff continued to require residents to transfer to dining chairs from their wheelchairs until at 

least 2012. 

19. Defendants provide transportation services to residents for off-site events, shopping 

trips, and appointments and includes the van schedule and transportation policies in the Resident 

Handbook. Prior to 2013, Defendants Westrum and Heritage did not provide accessible 

transportation to residents who used a wheelchair. 

20. Since approximately the spring of 2012, Defendant Heritage has created and 

implemented a Case Management Policy that contained discriminatory policies and practices 

based on disability. The Policy states that management has the right to terminate resident leases 

because of a resident’s medical condition even if the resident employed “home care or other 

support services.” Additionally, the Policy says that the Case Manager, a Heritage employee, 

can make the requirement of supportive services a condition of the lease, and any failure to abide 

by those mandated services could result in termination of the lease.    

21. The Case Management Policy also included discriminatory policies and practices 

with respect to prospective residents. The Policy describes procedures for pre-move in 

assessments of prospective residents, including observing potential residents’ functional 
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capabilities when meeting the prospect.  It further states that if a prospective resident has been on 

the waitlist for an extended period of time, then the Case Manager or marketing staff should 

meet with the individual again to reevaluate their functional capabilities at that time, including 

looking for issues such as cognitive impairment; physical deficits; identification of frequent 

medical problems; disclosure of unsafe behaviors or “wandering”; and lack of attention or 

inability to handle “activities of daily living”, medications, or incontinence. The Policy also 

directs that once a resident moves in, staff should conduct ongoing assessments by observing the 

residents to ensure they still qualify for “independent living.”    

22. In approximately 2012 and 2013, Defendant Heritage prepared a series of documents 

entitled “Characteristics of Independent Living,” “Who We Are at Traditions,” and “Guidelines 

for Evaluating Prospective Residents” that memorialized discriminatory policies and practices 

with respect to prospective residents with disabilities.  These documents described desirable 

residents as “healthy individuals [who] require minimal or no assistance, medical or otherwise” 

and stated that residents “should begin their lives at Traditions of Hanover as independent 

seniors.” These documents also listed characteristics that Defendants Westrum and/or Heritage 

desired in prospective residents, including preferences for residents who did not have mobility, 

emotional, or cognitive disabilities.  These documents also noted that prospective residents may 

have to undergo medical or cognitive evaluations prior to moving in.   

23. The Defendants also discriminated against residents who used motorized mobility 

devices by imposing a financial penalty and requiring that the resident transfer from the 

motorized mobility device to a chair in the dining room.  Specifically, from at least October 30, 

2007 to early 2017, the Defendants created and implemented a Motorized Chairs and 

Wheelchairs Policy that required any resident who used a motorized mobility device at 
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Traditions to sign a separate agreement, pay a $500 non-refundable deposit, and transfer from the 

motorized mobility device to a dining room chair during meals. 

24. None of the policies referenced above include any provisions allowing a current or 

prospective resident to request a reasonable accommodation.  None of the policies referenced 

above contain a statement that the Defendants do not discriminate on the basis of disability. 

B. The Discriminatory Policies and Practices Described Above Affected Residents and 
Prospective Residents With Disabilities  

25. These policies affected current and prospective tenants. For example, the Defendants 

maintained a database, called REPS, that tracked their interactions with potential residents.  The 

REPS database includes entries indicating that the Defendants evaluated prospective residents’ 

disabilities, including but not limited to, requiring pre-move in assessments and denying tenancy 

based on disability. 

26. Based on Defendants’ documents, Defendants Heritage and/or Westrum invoked the 

terms of the Resident Agreement to terminate tenancy of some residents due to the tenants’ 

disabilities. 

27. Based upon Defendants’ documents, at least one prospective resident decided not to 

use a motorized mobility device while living at Traditions in part because of the fee.  Further, 

Defendants Westrum and/or Heritage required at least three residents to transfer to a dining room 

chair from a wheelchair.  Defendants also charged residents a nonrefundable fee to use their 

motorized mobility devices.       

28. A former employee of Traditions of Hanover raised objections to the facility’s 

exclusion of prospective residents with disabilities and corresponding violations of the Fair 

Housing Act. Heritage Senior Living subsequently fired the employee. 
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Fair Housing Act Claims 

29. The United States re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth 

above. 

30. The conduct of the Defendants described above violates 42 U.S.C. §§ 3604(c), (f)(1), 

and (f)(2). 

31. The Defendants, by the actions set forth above, have: 

a. made statements with respect to a dwelling that indicate a preference, 

limitation, or discrimination based on disability, or an intention to make such 

preference, limitation, or discrimination, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(c);  

b. discriminated in the sale or rental of, or otherwise made unavailable or denied, 

dwellings to buyers or renters because of a disability, in violation of 42 U.S.C. 

§ 3604(f)(1) and 24 C.F.R. § 100.202(a); and 

c. discriminated in the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a 

dwelling, or in the provision of services of facilities in connection with such a 

dwelling, because of disability, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(2) and 24 

C.F.R. § 100.202(b). 

32. The conduct of the Defendants described above constitutes a pattern or practice of 

resistance to the full enjoyment of rights granted by the FHA and a denial to a group of persons 

of rights granted by the FHA, which denial raises an issue of general public importance, in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3614(a). 

33. Persons who were victims of the Defendants’ discriminatory housing practices and 

policies are aggrieved persons under 42 U.S.C. § 3602(i), and may have suffered injuries because 

of the conduct described above. 
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34. The conduct of the Defendants described above was intentional, willful, reckless, 

deliberately indifferent to, and taken in disregard of the rights of others. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF  

WHEREFORE, the United States prays that the Court enter an order that: 

a. Declares that the conduct of the Defendants, as alleged in this complaint, violates the 

FHA; 

b. Enjoins the Defendants, their officers, agents, employees, and successors, and all 

other persons in active concert or participation with them from: 

i. discriminating on the basis of disability in violation of the FHA;  

ii. failing or refusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary 

to restore, as nearly as practicable, the victims of the Defendants’ past 

unlawful practices to the position they would have been in but for the 

discriminatory policies and practices; and  

iii. failing or refusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary 

to prevent the recurrence of any discriminatory conduct in the future 

and to eliminate, to the extent practicable, the effects of the 

Defendants’ discriminatory practices. 

c. Awards monetary damages under 42 U.S.C. § 3614(d)(1)(B) to all persons harmed by 

the Defendants’ discriminatory housing policies and practices; and 

d. Assesses a civil penalty in an amount authorized by 42 U.S.C. § 3614(d)(1)(C) to 

vindicate the public interest against each Defendant who participated in creating and 

implementing the discriminatory housing policies and practices described above.  

9 



 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     
  

 

  
 

Case 5:20-cv-02272-JFL Document 1 Filed 05/13/20 Page 13 of 13 

The United States further prays for such additional relief as the interests of justice may require. 

Dated: May 13, 2020 
Respectfully submitted, 

WILLIAM M. McSWAIN 
United States Attorney 
Eastern District of Pennsylvania 

s/ Gregory B. David____________ 
GREGORY B. DAVID 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Chief, Civil Division 

s/ Charlene Keller Fullmer_______ 
CHARLENE KELLER FULLMER 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Deputy Chief, Civil Division 

s/ Michael S. Macko____________ 
MICHAEL S. MACKO 
Assistant United States Attorney 
United States Attorney’s Office for the Eastern 
District of Pennsylvania 
615 Chestnut Street, Suite 1250 
Philadelphia, PA 19106 
Phone: (215) 861-8415 
Email: Michael.Macko@usdoj.gov 

WILLIAM P. BARR 
Attorney General 

ERIC S. DREIBAND 
Assistant Attorney General 
Civil Rights Division 

SAMEENA SHINA MAJEED 
Chief 

s/ Julie J. Allen_______________ 
ANDREA K. STEINACKER 
Special Litigation Counsel 
JULIE J. ALLEN 
LAUREN M. MARKS 
Trial Attorneys 
Housing and Civil Enforcement 
Section 
Civil Rights Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
150 M Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20530 
Phone: (202) 307-6275 
Fax: (202) 514-1676 
E-mail: Julie.Allen@usdoj.gov 

Lauren.Marks@usdoj.gov 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
United States of America 
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